IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Petitioner,	CASE	NO. SC05-88
v.		
MORONI LOPEZ,		
Respondent.		

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED CONFLICT PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

FELICIA A. WILCOX ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0088854

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-O1, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Moroni Lopez, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of the trial court proceedings. "IB" will designate Appellant's Initial Brief. Each symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Moroni Lopez was convicted of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. In a proffered testimony elicited at trial, Tallahassee Police Officer Mel Gaston testified that the police were dispatched to an apartment complex based on a report to 911 that Hector Ruiz had been abducted from his

-1-

apartment at gunpoint (T 10,18). Within two and a half minutes, Officer Gaston arrived to the named apartment and found the door open with no one inside (T 10,18). Officer Gaston left the apartment and the people involved in the abduction arrived on scene and exited a vehicle (T 11).

Within twenty seconds of the their arrival in the apartment complex parking lot, Officer Gaston approached the owner of the vehicle, Hector Ruiz (T 11). Officer Gaston estimated that it was about six to eight minutes from the time of the 911 call until he talked to Mr. Ruiz (T 19). Upon contact with Mr. Ruiz, Officer Gaston observed that Mr. Ruiz appeared to be nervous, upset, shaken up and jittery (T 11,12,16,17). Officer Gaston testified that he had to calm Mr. Ruiz before he could get him to tell him his account of the incident (T 16,20,21).

While Respondent stood about 15 to 20 feet away from him, Mr. Ruiz told Officer that Respondent had a gun in his possession (T 21,22). Mr. Ruiz surreptitiously indicated that Respondent was person that pointed a gun at him and forced him out of his home (T 12,13,17).

A short time after the contact with Mr. Ruiz, another officer found a firearm in the Mr. Ruiz's vehicle. Respondent admitted to ownership of the firearm and that he hid the gun

-2-

under a seat in the Mr. Ruiz's vehicle. (T 68,70,72-75).

Although the Mr. Ruiz appeared for deposition, he could not be located for trial (T 31-32,39,40). Despite his failure to appear for trial, Mr. Ruiz's statement regarding Respondent possession of the firearm was admitted as an excited utterance (T 39,40). The jury subsequently convicted Respondent of possession of firearm by a convicted felon.

Respondent appealed his conviction and claimed that the Mr. Ruiz's excited utterance was testimonial hearsay under <u>Crawford</u> <u>v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and thus was inadmissible. Respondent asserted that the trial court's admission of the Mr. Ruiz's testimonial statement violated his Sixth Amendment right to confront his accuser under the United States Constitution because Mr. Ruiz did not testify at trial.

The First District Court of Appeal reversed Respondent's conviction and stated: "We conclude that the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider a hearsay statement made by person who said that he observed the defendant in possession of the firearm." Lopez v. State, 888 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The court found the statement qualified as an excited utterance, but was inadmissible under <u>Crawford</u> because it was testimonial and the declarant was not available or subject to cross-

-3-

examination. Id.

The court disagreed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's view in <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla 5th DCA 2004), which found a witness's discovery deposition satisfied the right of confrontation. <u>Id</u>. Because the First District's ruling that Mr. Ruiz's deposition did not satisfy the right of confrontation directly conflicts with <u>Blanton</u>, the court certified a question on this point. Id.

The State timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on January 14, 2005. This proceeding follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative and find that the Confrontation Clause as set forth in <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) was satisfied when Respondent's counsel conducted a pre-trial deposition of a witness who did not testify at trial. <u>Crawford</u> reiterates the view that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him.

During the deposition, Respondent had the specific opportunity to cross-examine the victim, while at the same time uncovering facts that he thought undermined the State's case and supported his defense. Since he had a meaningful opportunity to cross-examine the victim during his deposition, the admission of the victim's out of court excited utterance did not infringe upon Respondent's right of confrontation. Accordingly, the lower tribunal's ruling that Respondent's constitutional rights under the Confrontation Clause were violated under <u>Crawford</u> constituted a misapplication of the law and should be quashed.

ISSUE II.

This court need not reach the question of whether the

-5-

Confrontation Clause was satisfied by the victim's deposition because the statement at issue was not testimonial and outside the scope of <u>Crawford</u>. <u>Crawford</u> prohibits the admission of a pretrial statement only if it was testimonial and the declarant who made the statement was not available or subject to crossexamination at trial. <u>Crawford</u> should not been interpreted to preclude the admission of the excited utterance since by its very nature an excited utterance cannot be testimonial in that there was an absence of time to reflect on or fabricate the statement.

Accordingly, the excited utterance was properly admitted as it was not testimonial as defined by <u>Crawford</u>. Since the lower tribunal's decision is based on erroneous finding that victim's excited utterance constituted a testimonial statement, this Court should quash the decision.

-6-

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE ADMISSION OF A HEARSAY STATEMENT BY A DECLARANT THAT WAS DEPOSED BUT DID NOT TESTIFY AT TRIAL, VIOLATES THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION UNDER <u>CRAWFORD V.</u> WASHINGTON, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

Following his conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, Respondent appealed to the First District Court of Appeal. The district court reversed Respondent's conviction reasoning that <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), precluded the admission of an excited utterance statement from a declarant that did not testify at trial. The district court found under <u>Crawford</u>, the admission of the excited utterance violated Respondent's right to confrontation where the statement was testimonial and the declarant who made the excited utterance was not available or subject to cross-examination at trial. The lower tribunal misapplied the law relating to the Confrontation Clause as contemplated by <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and thus, this Court should quash the decision below.

Jurisdiction

Pursuant to Article V ' 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal

-7-

that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great public importance. The District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, certified that its decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So.2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) on the same question of law. The question of law in conflict is:

Whether the admission of a hearsay statement by a victim (who does not testify at trial) violates the defendant's right of confrontation under <u>Crawford v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) if the defendant had previously taken the victim's deposition and had an opportunity for cross-examination.

Therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

Merits

The crux of the question before this Court is whether a non-testifying witness's deposition qualified as a "prior opportunity for cross-examination" as contemplated by <u>Crawford</u> <u>v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). <u>Crawford</u> prohibits the admission of testimonial statements from witnesses absent from trial where the defendant has not had the prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 54. Where testimonial evidence is at issue and the declarant is unavailable, the Sixth Amendment requires that there be a prior opportunity for cross-examination. Id.

-8-

<u>Crawford</u> reiterates the view that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him. <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 54. The primary interest which <u>Crawford</u> secures is a defendant's right to confront and/or cross-examine the witnesses against him.

The Confrontation Clause does not require that he confrontation take place in front of a fact-finder or jury. <u>Id</u>.; <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). The requirements of the confrontation clause are satisfied when, at any time, including the deposition or trial, the defendant is accorded the right of cross-examination. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Jones</u>, 404 F. Supp. 529, 541 (E.D. Pa. 1975) (citing <u>Government</u> <u>of the Virgin Islands v. Aquino</u>, 378 F.2d 540, 548, 6 V.I. 395 (3d Cir. 1967)).

In the case at hand, Respondent was convicted of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. In a proffered testimony elicited at trial, Tallahassee Police Officer Mel Gaston testified that the police were dispatched to an apartment complex based on a report to 911 that Hector Ruiz had been abducted from his apartment at gunpoint (T 10,18). Within two and a half minutes, Officer Gaston arrived to the named

-9-

apartment and found the door open with no one inside (T 10,18). Officer Gaston left the apartment and the people involved in the abduction arrived on scene and exited a vehicle (T 11).

Within twenty seconds of the their arrival in the apartment complex parking lot, Officer Gaston approached the owner of the vehicle, Hector Ruiz (T 11). Officer Gaston estimated that it was about six to eight minutes from the time of the 911 call until he talked to Mr. Ruiz (T 19). Upon contact with Mr. Ruiz, Officer Gaston observed that Mr. Ruiz appeared to be nervous, upset, shaken up and jittery (T 11,12,16,17). Officer Gaston testified that he had to calm Mr. Ruiz before he could get him to tell him his account of the incident (T 16,20,21).

While Respondent stood about 15 to 20 feet away from him, Mr. Ruiz told Officer that Respondent had a gun in his possession (T 21,22). Mr. Ruiz surreptitiously indicated that Respondent was person that pointed a gun at him and forced him out of his home (T 12,13,17).

A short time after the contact with Mr. Ruiz, another officer found a firearm in the Mr. Ruiz's vehicle. Respondent admitted to ownership of the firearm and that he hid the gun under a seat in the Mr. Ruiz's vehicle. (T 68,70,72-75).

Although the Mr. Ruiz appeared for deposition, he could not

-10-

be located for trial (T 31-32,39,40). Despite his failure to appear for trial, Mr. Ruiz's statement regarding Respondent's possession of the firearm was admitted as an excited utterance (T 39,40). The jury subsequently convicted Respondent of possession of firearm by a convicted felon.

Respondent appealed his conviction and claimed that Mr. Ruiz's excited utterance was testimonial hearsay under <u>Crawford</u> <u>v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and thus was inadmissible. Respondent asserted that the trial court's admission of the Mr. Ruiz's testimonial statement violated his Sixth Amendment right to confront his accuser under the United States Constitution because Mr. Ruiz did not testify at trial.

The First District Court of Appeal agreed with Respondent and reversed his conviction. <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 888 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Although the court found Mr. Ruiz's statement qualified as an excited utterance, the court found it to be inadmissible under <u>Crawford</u> because it was testimonial and Mr. Ruiz was not available or subject to cross-examination. Id.

In reaching is decision, the First District disagreed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's view in <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), which found a witness's

-11-

discovery deposition satisfied the right of confrontation under <u>Crawford</u>. <u>Id</u>. In <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla 5th DCA 2004), the court noted that the primary goal of the Confrontation Clause is to prevent the use of statements not previously tested through the adversarial process. This goal is ordinarily met when an accused is provided with notice of the charges, a copy of the witness's statement, and a reasonable opportunity to test the veracity of the statement by deposition. <u>Id</u>. The court in <u>Blanton</u> emphasized that <u>Crawford</u> mandated only the "opportunity" for the examination. Id. ¹

In the case at hand, the appellate court refused to follow the logical reasoning set forth in <u>Blanton</u>, and expanded the definition of what constituted a "prior opportunity for crossexamination". <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 888 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The appellate court found that the victim's deposition did not offer the opportunity for cross-examination as contemplated by <u>Crawford</u> because the deposition was not an adversarial testing of the evidence and Respondent was not present during the deposition. Id. While the court

¹ This Court granted review in this case based upon conflict with <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). The conflict case is pending before this Court under <u>Blanton v.</u> <u>State</u>, SC04-1823.

acknowledged that a lawyer could cross-examine a witness during a discovery deposition, the discovery deposition would not qualify as an adversarial testing of the evidence against the defendant. Id.

The appellate court relied upon <u>State v. Basiliere</u>, 353 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1977) and reasoned that the "opportunity" for cross-examination meant more than the standard "discovery deposition". <u>Id</u>. In <u>Basiliere</u>, the victim died before the trial, and the state tried to introduce his deposition in evidence. <u>Id</u>. Although Basiliere's lawyer declined to crossexamine the witness during the deposition, the court held that this was not a waiver of the defendant's right to confront the witnesses against him. <u>Id</u>. The court considered the discovery deposition as only a means by which the defendant could ascertain facts upon which the charge was based. <u>Id</u>.

The court found that the defendant could not have been expected to conduct an adequate cross-examination because he was unaware that the deposition would be the only opportunity he would have to examine and challenge the accuracy of the deponent's statements. <u>Id</u>. The court reasoned in <u>Basiliere</u> that, while a deposition to perpetuate the victim's testimony would have satisfied the defendant's right of cross-examination, a

-13-

discovery deposition did not. Id.

The State submits that the appellate court's decision was in error because the court overlooked key language from the <u>Basiliere</u> which found the right of confrontation was not satisfied with a deposition at which a defense attorney is discovering facts and circumstances for the first time.

"Yet, when the defendant sought discovery through means of deposition, it was only to ascertain facts upon which the charge was based. Being unaware that this deposition would be the only opportunity he would have to examine and challenge the accuracy of the deponent's statements, defendant could not have been expected to conduct an adequate cross-examination as to matters of which he first gained knowledge at the taking of the deposition."

Basiliere, 353 So.2d at 824,825.

In contrast to <u>Basiliere</u>, Respondent's counsel knew the subject of the deposition was the victim's excited utterance implicating Respondent in the possession of a firearm. The police reports indicated the victim's statement about Respondent's possession of a firearm was made, and the victim was examined precisely on that point (R 2, T 28). Thus, Respondent was prepared for and had the opportunity to confront and question the victim about his statement regarding Respondent's possession of the firearm at the deposition.

Furthermore, defense counsel had every opportunity to

-14-

limit, contradict, or otherwise cross-examine the victim about his allegation to the police. The First District's contention that the deposition was merely a "discovery deposition" is belied by the fact that defense counsel believed that the victim's deposition reflected a sufficient examination of the witness such that the trial judge could rely upon it show that Mr. Ruiz's statements were not credible (T 28).

Defense counsel told the trial court that Mr. Ruiz's deposition established that the Respondent's guilt was based upon Mr. Ruiz's statements (T 27).

DEFENSE COUNSEL: What we would be presenting? If we have to we'll be forced to put on the defendant. What we won't be able to present, because Mr. Ruiz is not here, it that they both work for the same construction firm, they're both Hispanic workers working for a construction firm. That work for a gentleman name Mario Morqucho.

Prior to this offense the defendant in this case had contacted the police about a sexual battery against him by Mr. Morqucho. That investigation was ongoing at the time. We did a deposition with Mr. Ruiz and with the lady that make the phone call and we got the 911 tape. All this could come out.

Through Mr. Ruiz we were going to prove that supposedly he's taken by gunpoint to this store. He gets out of the -- that the defendant gets out of the car, in September, and goes into this convenience store, goes inside. Mr. Ruiz stays outside. He's got a cell phone in his possession that he 's had for I think six or seven months. He has the keys to the car. He gets out of the car and makes a phone call, not the police. He calls Mr. Morqucho. Mr. Morqucho is in a store where he is talking with Gail Yardis. Ms. Yardis is the woman that calls the police. Her conversation is on tape.

Her conversation with the police relates to a set of facts that when we got to the deposition is nowhere near what's going on, nowhere near the police report as to what's going on, okay? They're at the store. This gentlemen walks back outside after getting some cigarettes. They go back to the apartment complex, the police are there when he gets there. Her gets out of the car. That's it. Mr. Ruiz was deposed. I would ask the Court to read the deposition.

(T 26-27). Defense counsel also said that the deposition

revealed Mr. Ruiz's motive to make false allegations (T 26-27).

DEFENSE COUNSEL:... I would ask the Court, before the Court makes a decision to read the deposition, listen to the audio tape, and find out why we think this was a complete setup in retaliation for Mr. Lopez reporting a criminal offense against Mr. - - where he was the victim by Mr. Morgucho.

Without Mr. Lopez here to testify to any of this - - pardon me, without Mr. Ruiz here to testify to any of this, this jury is going to miss so much of this case, and they're going to get the last five minutes of it, and basically --

(T 28). Clearly, Mr. Ruiz's deposition was more than a general fact gathering or discovery exercise. The victim's deposition gave Respondent the specific opportunity to cross-examine the victim, while at the same time uncovering facts that he thought undermined the State's case and supported his contention that he was "set-up".

The appellate court reliance upon <u>Basiliere</u> is misplaced because unlike in <u>Basiliere</u>, the victim's deposition went beyond just the discovery of facts upon which the charge was based as proposed by the appellate court. Thus, the admission of Mr. Ruiz's excited utterance about Respondent's possession of the firearm was not an infringement of Respondent's right of confrontation because he had an meaningful opportunity to crossexamine Mr. Ruiz during his deposition.

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