IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-88

MORONI LOPEZ,

Respondent.

_____/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMIE SPIVEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0850901 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Moroni Lopez, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of the trial court proceedings. "IB@ will designate Appellants Initial Brief. "PB" will designate Petitioners initial Brief in this Court. Each symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner=s "Statement of the Case and Facts" as reasonably supported by the record.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

This Court should affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Lopez and quash the decision in Blanton because, 1) discovery depositions do not provide defendants with notice that the witness will not appear at trial, 2) discovery depositions do not allow the defendant to be present in order to confront his accuser, 3) while discovery depositions afford the means to discover the basis for a witness= testimony, they do not provide the opportunity to challenge the witness and, 4) discovery depositions do not allow the finder of fact the opportunity to gauge the witness= tone and demeanor which is necessary to evaluate their credibility. Accordingly, because the pretrial deposition did not satisfy Respondents constitutional right to confront his accuser, and Ruiz did not testify at trial giving Respondent no opportunity for cross-examination, his conviction should be reversed by this Court.

ISSUE II

This Court should affirm the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Lopez</u> and quash <u>Blanton</u> because Ruiz= statements were testimonial in violation of <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>.

Although deemed an excited utterance and therefore reliable by the lower court, an out of court hearsay statement introduced as substantive evidence cannot satisfy the confrontation concerns raised by Crawford v. Washington. Rather, even hearsay statements which would otherwise be admissible under an exception to the hearsay rule are inadmissible under Crawford v. Washington if their testimonial nature deprives the defendant of his right to confront his accuser. In this case, Ruiz= statement was testimonial because it was made to an investigating police officer at the scene of the crime. Because Ruiz must have known his statement would be used to identify and prosecute Respondent for this crime, and because the statement was the sole evidence that a crime was committed, it was testimonial and therefore inadmissible, despite the fact that it might have been otherwise admissible under a hearsay exception.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE ADMISSION OF A HEARSAY STATEMENT BY A DECLARANT THAT WAS DEPOSED BUT DID NOT TESTIFY AT TRIAL VIOLATES THE DEFENDANT=S RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION UNDER <u>CRAWFORD V.</u> WASHINGTON, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

Jurisdiction

This case comes to this Court under discretionary review as a certified conflict with <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). <u>Blanton</u> held that a prior deposition satisfied the dictates of <u>Crawford v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) in that a discovery deposition per Rule 3.220(h), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides a defendant with the **A**opportunity@ to confront his or her accuser. This Court has jurisdiction. See, Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.

Merits

The First District Court of Appeal held that a discovery deposition does not provide a meaningful opportunity to cross-examine or confront ones accuser because 1) defendants do not know that a deposition will be their only opportunity to confront the witness and do not conduct the type of cross-examination that would satisfy

the right to confrontation, citing <u>State v. Basiliere</u>, 353 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1977) and <u>State v. Green</u>, 667 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1995); and 2) defendants do not have a right to attend discovery depositions, citing John F. Yetter, <u>Wrestling with Crawford v. Washington and the New</u> <u>Constitutional Law of Confrontation</u>, Fla. B. J., Oct. 2004, at 26, 30. See, <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 888 So. 2d 693, 700, 701 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

Petitioner argues that Respondents right to confrontation was not violated by the admission of witness Ruiz= hearsay statements because Respondent knew about Ruiz's statements before trial and had the opportunity to cross-examine those statements at a pre-trial deposition.

Petitioners analysis fails to consider that there were several issues needing cross-examination. Trial counsel argued the statements were not reliable because Respondent had accused his employer, Mr. Morqucho, of committing a sexual battery on him the night before Ruiz made his statements to the police. Trial counsel proffered that Ruiz was Morqucho's employee and that, "this whole case was a frame-up, set-up, basically put together by Mr. Morqucho to put Mr. Lopez in a bad light." (T 26, 27)

This information would not be available in a police report. The deposition served as an opportunity to

discover what Ruiz would say under oath about his bias for Morqucho against Lopez. The time to challenge Ruiz with the evidence of bias and his relationship to Mr. Morqucho would be at a face to face encounter in front of the jury deciding Respondent=s fate, not at a deposition where a jury could not gauge Ruiz= reaction and credibility. And finally, without Ruiz= testimony at trial, the defense had no opportunity to introduce the evidence of bias to the jury.1

In these respects, discovery depositions per Rule 3.220(h), Fla. R. Crim. P., simply do not provide defendants with an "opportunity" to confront an accuser within the meaning of <u>Crawford</u>. And with the reasonable expectation that every witness will appear for trial, a defendant does not know that a deposition to perpetuate testimony per Rule 3.190(j) is needed.

The State argues that the First District Court of Appeal overlooked key language from <u>Basiliere</u> finding that a deposition did not satisfy the right of confrontation **A**[only] when a defense attorney is discovering facts and circumstances for the first time.@(PB 14) This analysis

¹ Petitioner should not have to waive his right to remain silent in order to preserve his right to confront his accuser. Even if Petitioner had offered this evidence himself, it would not have the same credibility as it would coming from Ruiz.

incorrectly assumes that Basiliere did not have access to such discovery documents, or that the First District=s opinion was based on this fact alone. Yet, plainly, Basiliere did participate in discovery (hence, the deposition in that case), and the First District=s opinion was based on more than a perceived need for preparation necessary to conduct an effective cross-examination.

The First District also ruled as did the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Crawford</u> that satisfying the right to confrontation must include the defendant physical presence at the proceeding. The State dismisses this requirement, citing only <u>Commonwealth v. McClendon</u>, 874 A.2d 1223 (2005). Petitioner fails to mention that the videotaped deposition in <u>McClendon</u> was taken only after the trial court ruled the witness would not be available for trial. Hence, that deposition was taken for the very purpose of being admitted at trial, thereby alleviating all of the Confrontation Clause concerns raised in this case. <u>Id</u>., at 1233, 1234.

The State cites <u>Contreras v. State</u>, 910 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) in support of its cause. Yet, the Fourth District clearly indicated its belief that, to satisfy confrontation concerns, any pretrial deposition used as substantive evidence would have to be taken in the

defendant=s presence with the intention of being used at trial.

We can envision circumstances where a defendant is aware of the state=s intention to use a prior testimonial statement, is present at a deposition, and so conducts the cross-examination of the witness that it might satisfy <u>Crawford</u>.

Id., at 909. The Fourth District held that the average discovery deposition does not satisfy the requirements of Crawford, and certified conflict with Blanton.

In sum, this Court should affirm the holding of the First District Court of Appeal in Lopez and quash the Fourth Districts decision in <u>Blanton</u>. Respondents constitutional right to confrontation under both Article 1, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution and Amendments VI & XIV of the United States Constitution, requires reversal of this conviction which is based solely on a hearsay statement that he could not confront in front of his jury.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE VICTIMES EXCITED UTTERANCE CONSTITUTED A TESTIMONIAL STATEMENT AS DEFINED BY <u>CRAWFORD V.</u> WASHINGTON, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

Jurisdiction

This case comes to this Court under discretionary review as a certified conflict with <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). <u>Blanton</u> held that a prior deposition satisfied the dictates of <u>Crawford v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) in that a discovery deposition per Rule 3.220(h), provides defendants with the **A**opportunity@ to confront their accusers. This Court has jurisdiction. See, Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.

Merits

The First District Court of Appeal held that Ruiz= statement to Officer Gaston was an excited utterance and, therefore, not inadmissible under the rule excluding hearsay. See, Section 90.801, Fla. Stat.; and Lopez v. State, 888 So. 2d 693, 700 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Nonetheless, the court ruled the statement inadmissible because it was deemed testimonial and, therefore, violated <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). The court reasoned that a statements character as testimonial was

unaffected by its reliability, and specifically, that under <u>Crawford</u>, evidence code reliability was not a sufficient guarantee of a defendant right to confrontation.

The State argues that the First District is wrong and asserts that an excited utterance may never be deemed testimonial. **A**An excited utterance by its very nature cannot be testimonial.@ (PB 24) Petitioner cites various cases in support, most of which have been overturned and/or are readily distinguishable from the facts of this case.

The holdings in <u>Fowler v. State</u>, 809 N.E. 2d 960 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 814 N.E. 2d 695 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004); and <u>Hammon v. State</u>, 809 N.E. 2d 945 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004), that an excited utterance can never be hearsay have been overturned by Indianas Supreme Court in <u>Hammon v.</u> <u>State</u>, 829 N.E. 2d 444 (Ind. 2005). <u>Hammon</u> held that the victimes oral statements to police were not testimonial, but their written affidavits were testimonial and inadmissible under <u>Crawford</u>. These cases are also distinguished by the facts that the broken furniture and/or bloody nose of these domestic violence victims (<u>Fowler</u> and <u>Hammon</u>) gave ample evidence that a crime had been committed and that the defendant likely committed it. In <u>Rogers</u>, the officers found the victim with a cut on his head and found the defendant nearby, pounding and kicking doors in a mens

restroom.2 In contrast, Ruiz= statements were the only evidence that a crime had been committed and that Respondent committed it.

Similarly, in North Carolina v. Forrest, 596 S.E. 2d 22 (N.C. Ct. App. 2004), the excited utterance made to responding officers occurred only after officers had observed the defendant holding the victim at knifepoint. In Cassidy v. State, 2004 Tex. App. LEXIS 4519 (Tex. Ct. App. 2004), the declarant had a knife wound. In People v. Mackey, 785 N.Y.S. 2d 870 (N.Y. Crim. Ct. 2004), a mother with obvious bruises, approached police seeking protection for herself and her children. In contrast, Ruiz= statements were the only evidence that a crime had been committed or that Respondent committed it. Compare State v. Allen, 614 S.E. 2d 361, 366 (N.C. Ct. App. 2005), holding that an excited utterance made in response to an officers questions is testimonial and inadmissible under Crawford. ABased on the particular circumstances of a case, statements that could be characterized as excited utterances may or may not be testimonial@ Id., at n. 2. And unlike the mother/victim in Mackey, Ruiz did not call or seek out police. Rather,

²As recently noticed by Petitioner, these cases have been granted certiorari review by the United States Supreme Court.

the police were called by a third party and Ruiz responded to their questions.

In <u>Demons v. State</u>, 595 S.E. 2d 76 (Ga. 2004), the excited utterance of the victim that his ex-boyfriend wanted to kill him, as the ex-boyfriend was banging on hotel room doors looking for him, did not violate <u>Crawford</u> because it was deemed not testimonial. Similarly, in <u>State</u> <u>v. Orndorff</u>, 95 P. 3d 406 (Wash. Ct. App. 2004), the excited utterance was made to another witness, not police. Indeed, statements made to someone other than an investigating officer lack the necessary testimonial intent or knowledge that they will be used for prosecution. In contrast, Ruiz' statement was made to a responding officer.

In <u>Leavitt v. Arave</u>, 371 F. 3d 663 (9th Cir. 2004), the victims statements were made the night before her murder, offering her suspicions about the identity of a prowler. The statements were deemed not testimonial because the victim had no way of knowing her statements would be used in a prosecution for her own murder. Similarly, in <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 2004 Me. LEXIS 124 (Me. 2004), the victims statements were made to police well before she could know they would be used to prosecute her own murderer. Similarly, in <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 151 S.W. 3d 694 (Tex. App. 2004), the excited utterance named the defendant as the

driver of a car connected with an earlier robbery, but offered no evidence of whether the defendant actually committed the robbery for which he was ultimately convicted. In contrast, Ruiz= statement named Respondent as the perpetrator of the crime for which he was convicted (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon). Indeed, Ruiz= statement was the only evidence that any crime was committed.

Additionally, the cases cited by Petitioner place too much emphasis on the fact that an excited utterance is "reliable" when finding those statements to be "not testimonial." As the First District held in <u>Lopez</u>:

In our view, the findings necessary to support a conclusion that a statement was an excited utterance do not conflict with those that are necessary to support a conclusion that it was testimonial. A statement made in the excitement of a startling event is likely to be more reliable given the fact that the declarant had little time to make up a story. But, under <u>Crawford</u>, reliability has no bearing on the question of whether a statement was testimonial. Some testimonial statements are reliable and others are not.

Lopez, at 699. Indeed, <u>Crawford</u> held that the reliability of hearsay statements is no longer a reasonable basis to ensure a defendants right of confrontation, receding from <u>Ohio v. Roberts</u>, 448 U.S. 56 (1980):

Where testimonial statements are involved, we do not think the Framers

meant to leave the Sixth Amendment's protections to the vagaries of the rules of evidence, much less to amorphous notions of reliability. Certainly none of the authorities discussed above acknowledges any general reliability exception to the common-law rule. Admitting statements deemed reliable by a judge is fundamentally at odds with the right of confrontation. To be sure, the Clause's ultimate goal is to ensure reliability of evidence, but it is a procedural rather than a substantive guarantee. It commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross-examination. The Clause thus reflects a judgment, not only about the desirability of reliable evidence (a point on which there could be little dissent), but about how reliability can best be determined. [cite omitted]

The <u>Roberts</u> test allows a jury to hear evidence, untested by the adversary process, based on a mere judicial determination of reliability. It thus replaces the constitutionally prescribed method of assessing reliability with a wholly foreign one. In this respect, it is very different from exceptions to the Confrontation Clause that make no claim to be a surrogate means of assessing reliability.

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